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Lincoln, Kennedy, and the Autopsy 

From Washington to Dallas on the Union Line 
The air was numbing cold. 
The people listened with fists 
shoved deep in pockets. 
They heard their fellow American say, 
“Ask not what your country can do for you 
Ask what you can do for your country.” 
The words rang out 
like a shot. 

Marc s. Micozzi, MD, PhD 

Presidential assassinations leave a deep scar on our collective 
memory and consciousness as a nation. Somehow, the Amer- 
ican public in 1992 seems more comfortable with its knowl- 
edge of the circumstances of the death of our first sssassi- 
nated Resident, Abraham Lincoln, investigated in the mid- 
~&OS, than it does with that of our most recent, John F. 
Kennedy, investigated in the mid-l!%Os. 

See also p 2794. 

When Lincoln was shot at Ford’s Theatre in Washington, 
DC, on the evening of Good Friday, April 14,1365, no US 
President had been assassinated before, and, coupled with 
the simultaneous bloody attack on Secretary of State William 
Seward and his family at his home and the attempt on Vice 
President Andrew Johnson, no one knew quite what to do. 
Ambulance service did not then exist in Washington and 
cases like that of the wounded President were generally 
attended in the home and not the hospital. Instead, President 
Lincoln was carried across the street and placed in a bed in 
the Petersen Boarding House where he was attended by 
army physicians until he died early the next morning. 

How was the federal government able to accomplish in an 
1865 presidential death investigation what was not repeated 
to the public’s satisfaction in 19f33? Part of the problem has 
been public access to correct information. To a trained med- 
ical examiner, it is necessary to obtain and study the medical 
facts of the autopsy and correlate them with the circum- 
stances of the shooting to arrive at a reasonable conclusion. 

My ftrst opportunity personally to observe the relevant 
facts and correlations of the Kennedy assassination, pre- 
sented as medical examiner evidence, came at the meeting of 
the American Academy of Forensic Sciences in New Orleans, 
La, on February 19,1992. Forensic scientist Michael West, 
DDS, of Hattiesburg, Miss, gave a special presentation or- 
ganized by Michael Baden, MD, of New York, NY, that cor- 
related the Kennedy autopsy findings with the circumstances 
of the shooting as shown frame-by-frame on the Zapruder 
film.’ For the first time, I was able to rest, personally satisfied 
with the generally accepted autopsy results of the original 
death investigation and the Warren Commission report, for 
the simple reason that I was able to correlate the medical 
evidence with the observed circumstances. 

We have rehed on the media to communicate this critical 
information to the public at large. As conspiracy theories 
have spread, the public has not yet been satisfied with this 
information. Open access to the medical information had until 
recently been denied, leaving only speculation. Now we may 
fmally reach an end to the era of speculation regarding the 
cause, manner. and circumstances surrounding the death of 
President John F. Kennedy. 

The only concentration of specialized medical capability in the 
federal government was at the Army Medical Museum (today% 
Armed Forces Institute of Pathology) founded barely 3 years 
beforeinWashingtonattheoutbreakoftheCivilWar.’Museum 
physicians were called on to perform the autopsy that then-as 
now-was done to clearly establish the cause and manner of 
death.* These results were quickly made available to the public 
and quelled rampant rumors about Lincoln’s death, allowing a 
stricken nation to begin to come to terms with its grief? 

When President Kennedy was shot in Dallas in November 
1963, during a trip to Texas to open the new US Air Force 
School of Aerospace Medicine in San Antonio, the federal 
government had at its command tremendous medical and 
other resources in a nation replete with the most advanced 
medical technology, services, and capabilities. Yet the sub 
sequent autopsy at the National Naval Medical Center in 
Bethesda, Md, and investigation of this death have not left the 
nation satisfied with the results. 

On this April 15, exactly I27 years after Lincoln’s death, we 
convened a second panel in Washington, DC, to carefully study 
the ethical6 and technical questions of access to medical infor- 
mation derived from original autopsy materials tirn 1355 (al- 
ready on public display in Washington for some decades) re- 
gardingthepossibilityofAbxahamLincolnbavinghadMar&& 
syndrome6 certainly, the National Museum of Health and Med- 
icine of the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology has the unique 
capability in the case of President Kennedy, as well, not only to 
retain autopsy materials and roentgenograms for posterity, but 
also to make them available to forensic scientists and to accu- 
rately and tast&lly present them to the public so all can see for 
themselves the evidence of what really happened in Dallas (and 
Bethesda) on that fateful day and night. Ifwe are careful in our 
obligations toward the collection, care, keeping, and access to 
medical information and materials, we will be able to answer 
medical questions (when and if such’answem are warranted) 
whether 30 or 130 years later. 

bIarcS.Mi~MD,PhD 

From the National Museum of Health and Medlclne. Armed Forces Institute of Pa- 
tfwfogy. Washington. DC. 
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At Large 

With Dennis L. Ereo 

JFK’s death-the plain truth 
from the MDs who did the autopsy 
T here are two and only two physi- 

cians who know exactly what hap- 
pened-and didn’t happen-duringtheir 
autopsy of President John F. Kennedy 
on the night of November 22, 1963, at 
the Naval Medical Center in Bethesda, 
Md. The two, former US Navy pathol- 
ogists’James Joseph Humes, MD, and 
“J” Thornton Boswell, MD, convened 
last month in a Florida hotel for two 
days of extraordinary interviews with 
JAMA editor George D. Lundberg, MD, 
himself a former military pathologist, 
and this reporter about the events of 
that fateful night. It is the only time 
that Humes and Boswell have publicly 
discussed their famous case, and it wss 
the result of seven years of efforts by 
Lundberg to persuade them to do so. 

Bullets came from above and behind 

The scientific evidence they docu- 
mented during their autopsy provides 
irrefutable proof that Resident 
Kennedy was struck by only two bullets 
that came from above and behind from 
a high-velocity weapon that caused the 
fatal wounds. This autopsy proof, com- 
bined with the bullet and rifle evidence 
found at the scene of the crime, and 
the subsequent detailed documentation 
of a six-month investigation involving 
the enormous resources of the local, 
state, and federal law enforcement 
agencies, proves the 1964 Warren Com- 
mission conclusion that Kennedy was 
killed by a lone assassin, Lee Harvey 
Oswald. 

Humes, who was in charge, calls it 
“probably the least secret autopsy in 
the history of the world.” It was Humes 
and Boswell who opened the casket when 
the President’s body was brought by 
ambulance from Andrews Air Force 
Base after the flight from Dallas. It was 
Humes and Boswell who lifted the 
former President from his casket and 
placed him on the examining table to 
begin a four-hour autopsy. (They were 
joined later at the autopsy table by &my 
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Lt Co1 Pierre Finck, MC, who partici- 
pated as an expert consultant; Finck, 
who now lives in Switzerland, declined 
to come to Florida for the joint inter- 
view.) Humes says he is breaking his 
23-year silence ‘because I am tired of 
being beaten upon by people who are 
supremely ignorant of the scientific facts 
of the President’s death” 

Coincidentally, on the second day of 
the interviews, Boswell told the group 
that a Fort Worth physician, Charles 
Crenshaw, MD, had appeared on TV 
that very morning to argue the claim in 
his recent book, JFE Conspiracy of Si- 
lence, that when he allegedly observed 
the dead President at Dallas’ Parkland 
Hospital, he was positive that the bul- 
lets struck Kennedy from the tint, not 
the back, “as the public has been led to 
believe.” Crenshaw, who was a surgical 
resident in 1963, is not mentioned in the 
Warren Commission’s %&page sum- 
mary report and his 203-page, gener- 
ouslyspaeedpaperbackwaswrittenwith 
the aid of two assassinationconspiracy 
buffs. Crenshaw’s book is only the latest 
in a long parade of conspiracy theories 
purporting to tell how Kennedy was re- 
ally l&d, including the 1991 release of 
Oliver Stone’s film, JFK. Humes and 
Boswell had agreed to the JAMA in- 
terview without the slightest idea that 
Crenshaw’s book had been published. 

Now, his face incredulous with disbe- 
lief, Humes exploded with his summa- 
tion. Pointing toward the window& 
exasperated pathologist said, “If abul- 
let or a BB were tired through that win- 
dow, it would leave a small hole where 
it entered and a beveled crater where it 
exited. That is what ‘J’ and I found when 
we examined the President’s skull. There 
was a small elliptical entrance wound on 
the outside of the back of the skull, where 
the bullet entered, and a beveled larger 
wound on the inside of the back of the 
skull where the bullet tore through and 
exploded out the right side of the head. 
When we recovered the missing bone 

ments and reconstructed this gap 
lng wound where the bullet exited, we 
found this same pattern-a small wound 
where the bullet struck the inside of the 
skull and a beveled larger wound where 
it exited. This is always the pattern of 
a through-and-through wound of the aa- 
nium-the beveling or crater effect ap 
pears on the inside of the skull at the 
en&rue wound and on the outside of 
the skull at the etit wound. The crater 
effect is produced when the bony tissue 
of the skull turns inside out where the 
bullet leaves.” 

‘A foolproof finding’ 

He concludes, “In 1963. we proved at 
the autopsy table that President 
Kennedy was struck from above and 
behind by the fatal shot. The pattern 
of the entrance and exit wounds in the 
skull proves it, and if we stayed here 
until hell freezes over, nothing will 
change this proof. It happens 100 times 
out of 100, and I will defend it until I 
die. This is the essence of our autopsy, 
and it is supreme ignorance to argue 
any other scenario. This is a law of phys- 
ics and it is foolproof-absolutely, un- 
equivocally, and without question. The 
conspiracy buffs have totally ignored 
this central scientific fact, and every- 
thing else is hogwash. There was no 
interference with our autopsy, and there 
was no conspiracy to suppress the find- 
ings.” 

Though the evidence is less well de- 
lined, Humes emphasizes that his au- 
topsy found that the other bullet that 
struck Kennedy, the so-called “magic 
bullet” that was tln+first to hit Kennedy 
and that also hit Texas Gov John 
Corially, was also fired from above and 
behind. He says, “There was an ‘abra- 
sion collar’ where this bullet entered at 
the base of the President’s neck, and 
this scorching and splitting of the skin 
from the heat and scraping generated 
by the entering bullet is proof that it 
entered from behind. Unfortunately, at 
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the .fime of the autopsy, the trache 
ostomy performed on the President at 
Dallas in an attempt to save his life 
obliterated the exit wound through the 
tint of his neck near the Adam’s apple. 
Soft-tissue wounds are much more iffy 
than bone wounds, but there is no 
doubt from whence cometh those bul- 
lets-from rear to front from a high- 
velocity rifle.” 

Still, the other scenarios continue to be 
painted. “Recently,” Humes notes, “there 
were about 309 people at a convention in 
Dallas, each hawking a different conspir- 
acy theory about how the President was 
ldlled. I think this kind of general idiocy 
is a tragedy-it almost defies belief-but 
I guess it is the price we pay for living in 
a free country. I can only question the 
motives of those who propoimd these ri- 
diculous theoties for a price and who have 
turned the President’s death into a pro% 
making industry.” 

Humes and Boswell had a long, long 
day 29 years ago, and, in many ways, it 
has never ended. The &foot, 4inch, phys- 
ically energetic Humes is a commanding 
presence, and he says, “I was in charge 
of the autopsy-period. Nobody tried to 
interfere-make that perfectly clear.” 
The 5-foot, 9-inch, pipe-p&g Boswell 
is precise and methodical, and he says, 
‘We documented our findings in spades. 
It’s all there in the records. And Jim is 
not the kind of guy anybody pushes 
around.” Their comments on the record 
are essential because polls show, in the 
wake of the film JFK and the glut of 
conspiracy-theorist authors, that many, 
if not most Americans disbelieve the 
Warren Commission finding that Os- 
wald, “acting alone and without assis- 
tance,” killed Kennedy. To setthe record 
straight, they agreed to relive for JAMA 
their actions of Friday, November 22, 
1963. 

. . . 

On the day the President was shot at 
1239 PM, while riding in an open mo 
torcade through the sunny streets of 
Dallas, it was cold and gray in the Wash- 
ington, DC, area. Commander Humes, 
then 39, was the director of labs of the 
Naval Medical School in Bethesda, Md. 
Commander Boswell. then 41, was chief 
of pathology at the naval hospital, which 
was part of the Bethesda National 
Naval Medical Center. Humes was 
Boswell’s boss. 

Humes had signed on with the US 
Naly in 1943 to complete his under- 
graduate work at Villanova University, 
Villanova, Pa, as part of the Navy’s V-12 
enlistment program. tier earning his 
medical degree at Jefferson Medical Col- 
lege, Philadelphia, in 1948, he completed 
his internship and residency in anatomic 
and clinical pathology at the Bethesda 
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medical center the US Naval Hospital also spent seven years at the Bethesda 
in Philadelphia; and the Armed Forces ’ facility, which he “knew like the back of 
Institute of Pathology in Washington, my hand.” Boswell, a graduate of the 
DC. He was certified by the American~hio State University Medical School, 
Board of Pathology in anatomic and cl+- received his certification in anatomic pa- 
ical pathology in 1955. His postings in- thology in 1957 and clinical pathology in 
eluded military hospitals in the Canal 1959. He, too, had previously autopsied 
Zone, Hawaii, and San Diego. He was several gunshot wounds;md most of his 
appointed chief of pathology at the Na- military experience was at the naval hos- 
val Medical School in 1960 and promoted pital in Bethesda. 
to director of labs for the medical school Ironically, shortly before President 
in. 1961. By 1963, he had performed sev- Kennedy was shot and pronounced dead 
eral autopsies on military personnel at 1 PM at Dallas’ Parkland Hospital, 
killed by gunshot wounds and he had Humes left the medical center to go 
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Dr Humes: ‘This was the least secret autopsy in the world and the cause 
of death was blatantly obvious. There is no doubt from whence cometh 
those bullets-C”-- rear to front from a high-velocity rifle.’ 

home. He had promised to help his wife, 
Ann, prepare for a dinner party for 24 
that evening, almost all of them military 
personnel. Five of the Humeses’ seven 
children were in school, with the young- 
est two at home. The radio and TV were 
off, and the couple did not learn of the 
tragic news until their older children 
returned on the school bus. He recalls, 
‘The kids told Ann, The President’s 
been shot,’ and she was telling them, 
‘That’s a terrible thing to say,’ when we 

turned on the TV and learned for our- 
selves. My wife and I were both very 
upset, and we decided that a dinner party 
on this evening was out of the question.” 
Washington phone circuits were 
jammed, and while Ann Humes tried to 
get a line to call her guests to cancel, 
Commander Humes took his son out for 
ahaircut; his first communion was sched- 
uled for the next morning. When father 
and son returned, they found that Ann 
Humes had finally found an open phone 

line, only to have the operator interrupt 
with an emergency call from the Sur- 
geon General of the Navy, Admiral Ed- 
ward Kenney. It was 5% PM and Ad- 
miral Kenney said, “Jim, you better 
hurry over to the hospital.” 

By the time he srrived at the hospital, 
Humes was ‘beginning to get the mes- 
sage that the President’s body was en 
route. Them was great commotion and a 
cordon of Marines and military police.” 
Once inside, he was told by.Admiral Ken- 
ney, the ranking military officer, U ‘to be 
prepsred to do an autopsy’ on the late 
President.” 

‘Find the cause of death 

“My orders were to find the cause of 
death and I was told to get anyone I 
thought necessary to help do the au- 
topsy, but to limit it to only the help I 
needed. Hell, I could have called in peo- 
ple from Paris and Rome if I thought it 
necessary, but as it turned out, I didn’t. 
About this time, I also received a phone 
call from Dr Bruce Smith, the deputy 
director of the Armed Forces Institute 
of Pathology [AFIPI, offering me what- 
ever help I might need. Bruce was a 
Wend and I thanked him, saying I would 
call later if I needed help.” 

While Humes hadbeen preparing for 
his dinner party, Boswell had been at 
the hospital going over autopsy slides 
with pathology residents. He recalls, 
“Early in the afternoon, we received a 
call from Dr Bruce Smith f+om AFIP, 
saying, The President’s body is on its 
way to Bethesda for an autopsy.’ I ar- 
gued, That’s stupid. The autopsy should 
be done at AFIP [which was located five 
miles away at the Walter Reed Army 
Medical Center].’ After all, the AFIP 
was the apex of military pathology and, 
perhaps, world pathology. I was told, 
That’s the way it is. Admiral [George] 
Burkley [the President’s personal phy- 
sician] wants Bethesda’ Apparently, Ad- 
miral Burkley had called the AFIP from 
Air Force One en route tirn Dallas. 
Later, I wss told that Jackie Kennedy 
selected Bethesda because her husband 
had been a Navy man.” 

Humes was in total charge 

By ‘7:30 PM, Humes was in his scrubs 
in the hospital’s new morgue, built only 
four months earlier. He had selected Dr 
Boswell as his assistant. The morgue 
was at the back ohhe hospital, and, as 
Dr Humes stepped out&e the morgue 
onto the loading dock, he noticed a crowd 
milling about and an unknown man car- 
rying a large, old-fashioned “Speed 
Graphic” camera. Still outside the 
morgue, the pathologist told the un- 
known cameraman, “Get out!” Then, 
Humes asked, ‘Who’s in charge here?” 
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The answer was only 2 feet away, as a 
man in full military dress answered, “I 
am. Who wants to know?” Humes ex- 
plains, “The man who said he was in 
charge outside the morgue was some 
general representing the military sec- 
tion of the District of Columbia. I told 
him what my assignment was and asked 
him about the chap with the camera. 
Well, seconds later, this chap with the 
camera was sent away.” 

No generals in the morgue 

As the general remained outsi& the 
morgue, Humes stepped back inside to 
prepare to receive the Resident’s body. 
He emphasizes, “Nobody made any de- 
cision in the morgue except ME. No- 
body distracted or influenced me in any 
way, shape, or form.” 

Jackie and Bobby Kennedy and a host 
of others accompanied the motorcade 
bringing the President’s body from An- 
drews AFB to the Naval Medical Hos- 
pital morgue. While Jackie and Bobby 
Kennedy and the other VIPs were met 
at the front of the hospital and escorted 
to upstairs rooms, the casket was 
brought to the morgue at the rear of the 
hospital by Admiral Burkley. The bronze 
casket had one broken handle, and 
Humes and Boswell opened it. Humes 
says, We found the unclothed body of 
President John F. Kennedy, wrapped in 
sheets in a swaddling manner, the mas- 
sive head wound wrapped around and 
around with gauze and bandages.” To- 
gether, they lifted the body onto an ex- 
amining table, and Humes emphasizes, 
“There was no body bag anywhere near 
the scene. I cannot imagine how this 
talk about the President’s body being 
delivered in a body bag got started, but 
it is absolutely false.” 0 d 

Opening the ca lsket ;Wa 

experience " for Hur 
; a “shocking j 

nes, who was a : 
Kennedy s ;uppor ter. He 
identifying facial feat 

recalls, “His $ 
mutes were all in- g 

tact and tb ere he WaS , the President of 
the United States, now dead at age 46 
with a terrible wound of the head. He 
wasn’t that much older than me, and 
other than the head wound, he looked 
perfectly normal. He was a remarkable 
human specimen and looked as ifhe could 
have lived forever. It was very, very 
distressing.” After the initial shock, how- 
ever, Humes and Boswell got down to 
business. Humes notes, “This is what 
we are trained to do, and we got down 
to the task at hand.” 

As Admiral Burkley, the President’s 
personal physician, stood by their side, 
a team of 10 “locked in” and proceeded 
to start what would turn out to be a 
thorough four-hour autopsy. Humes em- 
phasizes. “1 was in charge from start to 
finish and there was no interference- 
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Dr Boswek We documented our findings in spades. It’s all there in the 
records.’ 

zero. It was myself, ‘J’ [Boswell], [Dr] 
Finck, two Navy enlisted men who 
served as autopsy technicians, three 
radiologists, including chief Jack Eber- 
sole, MD, and two photographers, in- 
cluding the medical school’s chief of pho- 
tography, John Stringer: We took 14 
x-rays of the body Tom head to toe and 
we took 52 photos from every possible 
angle.” 

He dispels the myth that no photos 
were allowed. “The medical school’s di- 
rector of photography was a civilian, 

John Stringer, and, in my opinion, he 
was one of the best medical photogra- 

phers in the world. He took 25 black- 
and-white photos and 27 color photos, 
all with large 4by&inch negatives. No 
significant aspect of the autopsy was 
left unphotographed.” He \dds, “The 
wounds were so obvious that there was 
no need to shave the hair before pho- 
tographs were taken.” 

Responding to published reports that 
photo negatives were seized by the FBI 
and that the FBI took its own photo- 
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graphs, Humes is incredulous. He says, 
“Yes, there were FBI and Secret Ser- 
vice people milling about the room. And, 
at one point, there was an unauthorized 
Navy corpsman taking photos in the 
morgue and the FBI quite properly 
seized and destroyed that f?lrn, since the 
photographer did not have credentials. 
However, the official photos taken by 
John Stringer were never touched, and 
no one from the FBI even had a camera, 
let alone the intention to take autopsy 
photos. These reports are an incredible 
lie.” 

He dispels another myth-that the 
morgue was controlled by generals and 
other brass in uniform ‘The President’s 
military aides fkom the Air Force, Army, 
and Navy were all present,” Humes says, 
“and they were all in dress uniforms, 
but they were not generals and their in- 
fluence on the autopsy was zero. The 
only high-ranldng officer was Admiral 
Burkley, and he left shortly after the au- 
topsy began to join Jackie and Bobby 
Kennedy upstairs.” 

See also p 2791. 

And a third myth-that he was not 
qua&d to do a gunshot autopsy. “I’d 
done gunshot wounds before and this one 
was perfectly obvious-there was a huge 
hole on the right side of the President’s 
head that only could have resulted hrn 
the exit of a high-velocity missile. Dr 
Bruce Smith [the deputy director of the 
Armed Forces Institute of Pathology] had 
initially thought that we might want a 
neuropathologist as a consultant, but once 
we opened the casket and saw the devas- 
tating nature of the President’s head 
wound, we knew that there was no need 
fortheskillsofaneuropathologist.Icalled 
Dr Smith back and told him what we had 
found, and he decided to make available 
Dr Pierre A. Fin&, who was one of the 
AFIPs experts in ballistics. I had never 
beforemetDrFinck,whoarrivedatabout 
9:15 PM.” 

Fin&, a shy, retiring man who had 
been trained in Europe, was an Army 
colonel, and he had trouble getting by 
all the Marines and sailors who were 
providing security outside the Navy hos- 
pital. Once inside, he completed the au- 
topsy team. 

Humes emphasizes, ‘There was a lot of 
commotion, but we are trained to focus on 
the task at hand, even under crowded con- 
ditions. Bethesda was a large teaching 
hospital. The morgue room contained an 

Tnts amcte IS one 01 a number of amckes on wOlence 
that will appear m upcoming tssues of THE JOURNAL 
The reader IS referred to the June 10. 1992. ~sue. 
which wtll be dedicated lo studies of vtolence 

2798 JAMA. May 27. 1992-Vol267. No. 20 

! 
t 

amphitheater which sat 30 to 40 people, 
and we were used to seeing authorized 
medical personnel come and go to observe 
autopsies.” Still, he says that the scene in 
the autopsy room was “somewhat like try- 
ing to do delicate neurosurgery in a three- 
ring circus.” The crowd did not influence 
the autopsy results, Humes says. 

Boswell adds, “Sure, there were FBI 
and Secret Service people observing the 
autopsy and talking on their radios to 
people outside the room, and we could 
hear a play-by-play of what we were 
doing and tall&g about, but nobody tied 
to interfere and we were able to focus on 
the matter at hand.” He adds, ‘The FBI 
and Secret Service told us that two frag- 
ments of the President’s skull had been 
recovered in Dallas and were being 
rushed to Bethesda and that bullet 
ments had also been recovered in 
Dallas.” 

Humes provides a poignant remem- 
brance of the scene. “The people around 
the President were totally devastated,” 
he says. “They were still in a state of 
shock and the reality of what had hap- 
pened had not yet sunk in Unless you 
live in Washington, it’s hard to imagine 
the mind-boggling aura that surrounds 
the President of the United States. 
These people thought they had let the 
Resident down, and now their hero was 
gone.” Boswell adds, ‘The people who 
accompanied the President’s body to the 
morgue were the most disturbed and 
distressed people I have ever seen.” 

Humes continues, ‘We were unfazed 
by all the commotion and concentrated 
on getting our x-rays, which we read 
right at the table, and our photographs, 
which we relied upon for future docu- 
mentation. ‘J’ and I both took down au- 
topsy notes and diagmms.” 

Fatal wound ‘blatantly obvious’ 

The pathologists found two wounds 
&rn a high-velocity missile that would 
later be matched to the military-jack- 
eted bullets fired from above and be- 
hind the Resident by Lee Harvey Os- 
wald. The fatal shot entered the back of 
the Resident’s skull and exploded away 
almost a 6-inch section on the right side 
of his head, the second bullet entered at 
the base of his neck, but its ex&track 
was not immediately apparent:-- 

“The fatal wound was blatantly obvi- 
ous,” Humes recalls. ‘The entrance 
wound was elliptical, 15 millimeters long 
and 6 millimeters wide, and located 2.5 
centimeters to the right and slightly 
above the external occipital protuber- 
ance. The inside of the skull displayed 
the characteristic beveled appearance. 
The x-rays disclosed fine dustlike me- 
tallic @me& from back to front where 
the bullet traversed the head before cre- 

ating an explosive exit wound on the 
right temporal-parietal area These frag- 
ments were not grossly visible. Two 
small &agments of bullet were recov- 
ered from inside the skull-measuring 3 
by 1 millimeters and 7 by 2 millimeters. 

“The head was so devastated by the 
exploding bullet and the gaping jagged 
stellate wound it created-it blew out 
13 centimeters of skull bone and skin- 
that we did not even have to use a saw 
to remove the skullcap. We peeled the 
scalp back, and the calvarium crumbled 
in my hands from the fracture lines, 
which went off in all directions. We made 
an incision high in the spinal cord and 
removed the brain, which was preserved 
in formalin. Two thirds of the right ce- 
rebrum had been blown away. 

“ARer the brain was removed, we 
looked more closely at the wound, and 
noted that the inside of the rear of the 
skull bone was absolutely inMet and bev- 
eled and that there could be no question 
from whence cometh that bullet-from 
rear to front. When we received the two 
missing fragments of the Resident’s 
skull and were able to piece together 
two thirds of the deficit at the right 
tint of the head, we saw the same pat- 
tern on the outer table of the skull-a 
bullet that traveled from rear to tint. 
Every theorist who says the bullet came 
from the front has ignored this critical 
irrefutable diagnostic fact. We did ev- 
erything within the means of reason- 
able people +a record with x-rays and 
photos what we saw.” 

The second bullet was more of a pus- 
xle. “If we made a mistake,” Humes says, 
“it was in not calling Dallas before we 
started the autopsy, Our infomiation 
from Parkland Hospital in Dallas before 
we started the autopsy was zero. If only 
we had seen the President’s clothes, 
tracking the second bullet would have 
been a piece of cake, but we didn’t have 
the clothes. In hindsight, we could have 
saved ourselves a lot of trouble if we had 
known that the doctors at Parkland per- 
formed a tracheostomy in an attempt to 
save the Resident’s life and that this 
procedure obliterated the exit wound of 
the bullet that entered at the base of the 
neck.” 

‘Time to quit speculating’ 

“The tracheostomy was a gaping 
wound, about 3 to 4 centimeters around, 
and we didn’t t&k of it as an exit 
wound. We also noticed that the Dallas 
doctors had tried to place chest tubes in 
the front of the President’s chest, but 
the tubes had not gone in and we found 
no increase of blood or fluid in the pleu- 
ral cavity. There was a contusion of the 
extreme apical portion of the right up 
per lobe of the lung but no laceration. 
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We also noted damage to the neck mus- 
cles, trachea, and pleura, but there was 
no bullet. It was bothering me vem 
greatly, like nothing you I& imagine, 
that we could find neither the second 
bullet nor its exit track. ‘J’ and I both 
knew that bullets can do funny things in 
the body, and we thought it might have 
been deflected down to the extremities. 
We x-rayed the entire body, but did not 
fmd a bullet.” The autopsy was also crit- 
icized because the pathologists did not 
dissect the President’s neck to track the 
second bullet. Humes says bluntly, ‘Dis- 
setting the neck was totally unneces- 
sary and would have been crimmal. 

“By midnight, we decided it was time 
to quit speculating about the second 
bullet, and I am very comfortable with 
this decision. It is true that we were in- 
fluenced by the fact that we knew Jackie 
Kennedy was waiting up&airs to accom- 
pany the body to the White House and 
thatAdmiralBurkleywantedustohurry 
as much as possible. By midnight, our 
task was done-it was perfectly obvious 
what bad l&d the man The second bul- 
let was important, but not of overriding 
importance:We knew we would &id the 
explanation sooner or later.” 

The explanation came sooner, the next 
morning at 7~30 when Humes called Dal- 
las to talk to Dr Malcolm Perry, the sur- 
geon who had performed the trache- 
ostomy- “The light came on when I talked 
to Dr Perry,” Humes says. “Ofcourse, the 
bullet had exited through the neck_” RI+ 
fening to Dr Crenshaw% contention that 
the wound in the front of the neck was 
small and round after tht? tmchcostom~ 
waspe@rmcdandatthetimetheRes- 
ident was placed in a casket, Dr Humes 
says, We found a gaping wound in the 
front of the neck where the trache- 
ostomy had been performed, and if Dr 
Crenshaw was correct, the only possible 
explanationis that the neck wound was in- 
tentionally enlarged while the body was 
en route from Dallas, and the insinuation 
of this scenario does not deserve a 
response.” 

Humes and Boswell had remained at 
the morgue until 5 that morning, helping 
to embalm the Resident’s body. Humes 
says, We were able to almost perfectly 
restore the President’s appearance, and 
a local funeral home brought out a beau- 
tiful mahogany casket to replace the 
bronze one from Dallas. When Admiral 
BurkIey and Bobby and Jackie Kennedy 
left to take the body to the White House, 
‘J’ and I fInally went home.” Boswell says, 
‘?%e mood in Washington was so appre- 
hensive that the commanding officer of 
the US Naval Medical School, Capt J. H. 
‘Smokef Stover, asked me to drive be- 
hind Jim to make sure that he got home 
safely.” 
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Thanks to Seven years of pursuit by George Lundberg. MD (center). editor of JAW, Drs Homes (left) and 
Boswell finally got together on a grassy knoll in Florida to discuss the 1963 autopsy of President John F. 
Kennedy. Later, Dr Lundberg said he ‘completely beliives’ UE autopsy report that Kennedy was I&d w 
only two bullets that struck him from above and behind and caused fatal high-velocity wounds.’ 

Humes spent most of Saturday, No- 
vember 23, drafting the autopsy report. 
In the process, he burned his autopsy 
notes, but not really. ‘This is the criticism 
I keep hearing over and over again,” he 
says, “that I burned my notes and that 
this means there must have been a con- 
spiracy. Well, it’s true that I burned my 
original notes because they were stained 
with the President’s blood, and I did not 
want them to become a collectors item, 
but I burned them after I had copied ver- 
batim in my own handwriting the entire 
contents. I make no apology for this, but 
I will explain my reason: 

“One of my assignments had been to 
escort foreign Navy officers around US 
bases. Along the way, we’d always try 
to show the foreign officers slices of 
Americana_ On one of these trips, we 
saw an exhibit that purported to be the 
chair on which President Abraham Lin- 
coln sat when he wss shot at Ford’s 
Theater. There were stains on the back \ 

Admiral Burkley wanted the autopsy 
report by midnight Sunday, November 
24, and early Sunday morning Humes 
returned to the Naval medical school to 
go over his handwritten report with Drs 
Boswell and Finck. The three pathoio- 
gists met in the office of Adm C. B. 
Galloway, the commanding officer of the 
National Naval Medical Center. While 
talking, they were called to watch a 
nearby TV set-Jack Ruby had just shot 
Lee Harvey Oswald in Dallas. Return- 
ing to their report, the three experts 
had no trouble agreeing on the facts of 
their autopsy. The report, “A63-272,” 
was the 272nd autopsy performed that 
year at the hospital. The admiral’s sec- 
retarytypedthehandwrittenreportinto 
six pages. Humes says, “Our conclusions 
have stood the test of time.” The cause 
of death is given as “gunshot wound, 
head.” The summary, as published in 
the 1964 Warren Commission report, 
reads as follows: 

of the chair that were reported to be 
from Lincoln’s blood. 1 was appalled at Le original 1963 adopaY repOfl 
this type of display, though- I later--- ‘% is our opinion that the deceased 
learned that the stains were &om ma- 
cassar, a hair preparation of the day 
that inspired the antimacassar doily, and 
not from Lincoln’s blood. In any event, 
when I saw that my own notes were 
stained with Kennedy’s blood, I vowed 
that this type of revolting object would 
not fall into the wrong hands. I burned 
the notes that night in my fireplace.” 

/ 

died as a result of two perforating gun- 
shot wounds inflicted by high-velocity 
projectiles tired by a per&n or persons 
unknown. The projectiles were fired 
from a point hehind and somewhat above 
the level of the deceased. The observa- 
tions and available information do not 
permit a satisfactory estimate as to the 
sequence of the two wounds. 
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‘The fatal missile entered the skull 
above and to the right of the external 
occipital protuberance. A portion of the 
projectile traversed the cranial cavity 
in a posterior-anterior direction (see lat- 
eral skull roentgenograms), depositing 
minute particles along its path. A por- 
tion of the projectile made its exit 
through the parietal bone on the right, 
carrying with it portions of cerebrum, 
skull, and scalp. The two wounds of the 
skull combined with the force of the mis- 
sile produced extensive tigmentation 
of the skull, laceration of the superior 
sagittal sinus, and of the right cerebral 
hemisphere. 

‘The other missile entered the right su- 
perior posterior thorax above the scapula 
and traversed the soft tissues of the 
supxa-scapular and supm&vicular por- 
tions of the base of the right side of the 
neck This missile produced contusions of 
the right apical metal pleura and of 
the apical portion of the right upperlobe 
of the lung. The missile contused the strap 
muscles of the right side of the neck, dam- 
aged the trachea, and made its exit 
through the anterior surface of the neck_ 
As~ascanbeascertained,thismissile 
struck no bony structures in its path 
through the body. 

“In addition, it is our opinion that the 
wound of the skull produced such ex- 
tensive damage to the brain as to pre- 
clude the possibility of the deceased sur- 
viving this injury. 

“A supplementary report will be sub- 
mitted following more detailed exami- 
nations of the brain and of microscopic 
sections. However, it is not anticipated 
that these examinations will materially 
alter the Gndin~.” 

That night, Humes hand-delivered the 
autopsy report, signed by Humes, 
Boswell, and Fin&, to Admiral Burkley 
at the White House. On December 6, 
1963, Humes alone submitted to Burkley 
his supplementary report, writing in the 
6nal summary: ‘This supplementary re 
port covers in more detail the extensive 
degree of cerebral trauma in this case. 
However, neither this portion of the ex- 
amination nor the microscopic examina- 
tions alter the previously submitted re- 
port or add significant details to the cause 
of death.” 

Shortly afterward, Humes turned over 
everything from the autopsy to Admiral 
Burkley-bullet fragments, microscopic 
slides, paraffm blocks of tissue, unde- 
veloped film, x-rays--and the preserved, 
unsectioned President’s brain. “Burkley 
said he wanted everything,” Hmnes says, 
“and he came out to Bethesda to get it. 
I gave it to him all in one package. What 
was left at Bethesda? Zero. I didn’t 
make a copy of anything. Frankly, I was 
glad to be out from under the respon- 
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sibility. Admiral Burkley gave me a re- 
ceipt for the autopsy materials, includ- 
ing the brain. It was my understanding 
that all the autopsy materials, except 
the brain, would be placed in the Na- 
tional Archives. He told me that the 
family wanted to inter the brain with 
the President’s body. I don’t know what 
happened to the brain, but I do know 
that Admiral Burkley was an honorable 
man.” 

The medical autopsy of President John 
F. Kennedy was concluded. The con- 
spiracy autopsies had yet to begin. 

. . . 
Humes and Boswell concede that 

Kenn~y’sbodywasillegallymoved~m 
Dallas, in violation of Texas laws requir- 
ing that Texas homicides be autopsied in 
Texas, and that there would have been 
lessconfusionifthea.utopsyhadbeenper- 
formed in Dallas, but Humes emphasizes: 

‘There was a very, very good reason 
why this happened. Lyndon Johnson did 
not know what was going on in Dallas on 
this day, and for all he lmew a cabal 
could have been in the works. He wanted 
to get back to his base and his base was 
Washington, DC. He would not leave 
without Jackie Kennedy, and she would 
not leave without her husband’s body. 
Johnson had to get back to Washington, 
and, ergo, the body had to be brought 
back. That’s that, and I cannot believe 
that any reasonable person would dis- 
agree with this course of action.” 

He adds, “Several days after the au- 
topsy, I got a call from someone in Dal- 
las demanding that we return the bronse 
casket that had carried the President’s 
body from Parkland Hospital to Be- 
thesda. I told him I had no idea what had 
happened to that casket, and I didn’t- 
it wasn’t my responsibility. He was very 
insistent, but so was I.” 

Autopsy confinned four times 
The autopsy findings have been con- 

f3rmed many times since 1963, a fact 
that has been largely ignored in the cur- 
rent hoopla over the film JFK and over 
Dr Crenahaw’s new book and media ap- 
pearances. The tit time was the pub- 
lication of the Warren Commission re- 
port in 1964, and Humes has brought to 
the interview a copy of his ownpP_en 
Commission report signed by Chief Jus- 
tice Earl Warren. It was only during 
their in&views with Warren Ccmmis- 
sion investigators that Humes and 
Boswell saw for the iirst time the cloth- 
ing worn by President Kennedy. 

Humes says, “Once we saw the holes 
in the back of the President’s suit jacket 
and shirt and the nicks on his shirt collar 
and the knot of his necktie, the path of 
the second bullet was conflrmed. That 
bullet was traveling very fast and it had 

to go somewhere. I believe in the single- 
bullet theory that it struck Governor 
Connally immediately after editing the 
President’s throat.” 

Bosweli adds, ‘Having seen the cloth- 
ing, I now lmow that I created a terrible 
problem with my own autopsy drawings. 
My drawings of the bullet holes on the 
night of the autopsy did not precisely 
matchupwiththe actual holesinthecloth- 
ing, because we were not aware that the 
President’s suit jacket had humped up on 
his back while he waved at the spectators. 
These errors were later exploited by the 
conspiracycrowdtofittheirpremiseaand 
purposes.” The clothing was kept in the 
National Archives, along with the rest of 
theautopsymateriala 

Photosnot published 
Both Humes and Boswell agreed to 

the commission’s stipulation that the au- 
topsy photos were not to be viewed. 
Humesexplains,“Iagr&withthecom- 
mission’s decision not to make the pho- 
tospartoftheofficialreport.Ihadstated 
in the autopsy, The complexity of these 
fractures and the merits thus pm- 
duced tax satisfslmory verbal descrip 
tion and are better appreciated in pho- 
tos and roentgenograms which are pre- 
pared,’ and I meant it, The head wound 
was devastating, and if the photos were 
made part of the commission report they 
would have become public. I did not think 
that these photos should appear on the 
front pages of newspapers, and I did not 
trust the ability of the commission to 
keep them secret. So, ‘J’ and I worked 
with an artist to recons~ct drawings 
of the President’s wounds, based upon 
our original measurements. These draw- 
ings are very accurate and met the pur- 
poses ofthe Warren Commission In 1964, 
there were no crazy conspiracy theories 
about the death of the president.” 

It was not until November 1, 1966, 
that the two pathologists saw the au- 
topsy photos--when they were sum- 
moned to the National Archives to help 
categorize all autopsy materials. 

The second confirmation of their au- 
topsy came in 1968, as the result of a 
request made by Drs Humes and Boswell 
themselves. In 1968, there were crazy 
conspiracy theories coming out of the 
woodwork On January26,196& Boswell 
sent a letter to Ramsey Clark, then the 
US attorney general, in an attempt to 
put the issue toyest. The letter read: 

“As you are aware, the autopsy find- 
ings in the case of the late President 
John F. Kennedy, including x-rays and 
photographs, have been the subject of 
continuing controversy and speculation. 
Dr Humes and I, as the pathologists 
concerned, have felt for some time that 
an impartial board of experts, including 
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‘&ologists and radiologists, should ex- 
amine the available material. 

“If such a board were to be nominated 
in an attempt to resolve many of the 
allegations concerning the autopsy re- 
port, it might wish to question the au- 
topsy participants before more time 
elapses and memory fades; therefore, it 
would be my hope that such a board 
would be convened at an early date. Dr 
Humes and I would make ourselves 
available at the request of such a board. 

“I hope that this letter will not be 
considered presumptuous, but this mat- 
ter is of great concern to us, and I be- 
lieve to the country as well.” 

Four physicians were subsequently 
appointed to a blue-ribbon panel to eval- 
uate the original autopsy. The four in- 
cluded: 

l William H. Carries, MD, professor 
of pathology at the University of Utah, 
Salt Lake City, and a member of Utah’s 
Medical Examiner’s Commission. He 
was nominated by J. E. Wallace Ster- 
ling, the president of Stanfo,rd Univer- 
sity. 

l RussellS. Fisher, MD, professor of 
forensic pathology at the University of 
Maryland and chief medical examiner of 
the state of Maryland. He was nomi- 
nated by Dr Oscar B. Hunter, Jr, pres- 
ident of the College of American Pa- 
thologists. 

l Russell H. Morgan, MD, professor 
of radiology at The Johns Hopkins Uni- 
versity School of Medicine, Baltimore, 
Md. He was nominated by Dr Lincoln 
Gordon, president of The Johns Hop 
kins University. 

l Alan R. Moritz, MD, professor of 
pathology at Case Western Reserve Uni- 
versity, Cleveland, Ohio, and former pro- 
fessor of forensic medicine at Harvard 
University, Cambridge, Mass. He was 
nominated by Dr John A. Hannah, pres- 
ident of Michigan State University. 

None of the four had any previous 
connection with prior investigations or 
reports on the President’s assassination. 
After an exhaustive study of all rele- 
vant materials, the four members of the 
panel signed and submitted a X-page 
report to Attorney General Clark in 
April 1968, unanimously concluding 

“Examination of the clothing and of 
the photographs and x-rays taken at au- 
topsy reveal that President Kennedy 
was struck by two bullets fired from 
above and behind him, one of which tra- 
versed the base of the neck on the right 
side without striking bone and the other 
of which entered the skull Tom behind 
and exploded its right side. The photo- 
graphs and x-rays discussed herein sup- 
port the abovequoted portions [the con- 
clusion] of the original Autopsy Report 
and the above-quoted medical conclusions 
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Dr Boswelk ‘It appears that [Chnmaker] Oliver Stone may have taken 
Dr Fir&s mistaken perceptions about the alleged military presence in the 
morgue and used it as the sole mistaken basis for the autopsy scenes in his 
movie, JFK’ 

of the Warren Commission Report.” 
The panel’s report noted, The pos- 

sibility that the path of the bullet through 
the neck might have been more satis- 
factorily explored by the insertion of a 
finger or probe was considered. Obvi- 
ously, the cutaneous wound in the back 
was too small to permit the insertion of 
a finger. The insertion of a metal probe 
would have carried the risk of creating 
a false passage-in part because of the 
changed relationship of muscles at the 
time of autopsy and in part because of 
the existence of postmortem rigidity. 
Although the precise path of the bullet 
could undoubtedly have been demon- 
strated by complete dissection of the 

soft tissue between the two cutaneous 
wounds~~there is no reason to believe 
that the information disclosed thereby 
would alter significantly the conclusions 

, expressed in this report.” 

The Garrison prosecution 

:1-e next con&mation came in 1969 in 
New Orleans when Pierre Finck was sub 
poenaed to testify at the trial of Clay 
Shaw, as part of District Attorney Jim 
Garrison’s conspiracy pro&&ion. Shaw, 
of course, was acquitted, and, until the 
publication of thisinterview, Finck’s tes- 
timony was the only public siring of 
the expert medical opinions on the assas- 
sination. 
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Dr I-hues: ‘There was no interference with our autopsy and nobody tried 
to suppress the findings.’ 

Boswell says, “A careful reading of 
the entire transcript of Dr Finck’s tes- 
timony shows that he held tightly to the 
facts of our autopsy and supported its 
conclusions. However, F’ierre was a meek 
and mild man who had been trained 
abroad, not in the United States. He 
was very ‘brass conscious,’ and he 
thought that generals were out of this 
world. At Bethesda, Finck was out of 
his element-an Army colonel in a Navy 
hospital-and he apparently mistook the 
Resident’s military aides and other mil- 
itary personnel for generals. During the 
trial, Gtion was able to exploit pi- 
erre’s misperceptions about the scene 
to give the impression that it was con- 
trolled by generals. Jim [Humes] and I 
state categorically that there was no 
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interference with our autopsy. The pa- 
tient was extraordinary, the autopsy was 
ordinary, or at least as ordinary as it 
could be under the circumstances.” 

Boswell knows because he, too, was in 
New Orleans in 1969 at the request of 
the US Justice Department. “Thee- 
tice Department was so convinced that 
Garrison was on a fishing expedition in 
his prosecution of Clay Shaw,” Boswell 
says, “that it summoned me to New Or- 
leans to refute Finck’s testimony, ifnec- 
essary. It turned out that it wasn’t nec- 
essary.” It now appears, Boswell adds, 
that filmmaker Oliver Stone may have 
taken Fin&s mistaken perceptions 
about the alleged military presence in 
the morgue, as detailed in the transcript 
of the trial. and used it as the sole basis 

for the mistaken autouss scenes in his 
movie JFK Humes ‘&Us the movie 
scenes “absolutely false and ridiculous,” 
but we are getting ahead of the storv. 

The next confirmation of the Resi- 
dent’s autopsy came i+om the 1977 House 
Select Committee on Assassinations. 
Congress appointed a panel of nine ex- 
perts chaired by forensic pathologist 
Michael Baden, MD, to investigate the 
medical tindings. In his 1989 book, Lin- 
natural Death-Confessions of a Med- 
ical Eraminer, Baden agrees with the 
fIndings of Humes-Boswell-Finck but 
still terms Kennedy’s autopsy the “ex- 
emplar” of the “bungled autopsy.” He 
writes, “Despite all these errors and for 
the wrong reasons, Humes came to the 
right conclusions-that Kennedy had 
been shot by two bullets &om behind, 
one in the head and one in the back.’ 
They [the wounds] werepoorly tracked, 
buthegotthetwomostimportantthings 
right..” 

Humes says he has not read Baden’s 
book and does not intend to. Mindful 
that this is a rare attack upon an au- 
topsy that was solidly endorsed by an 
expert panel in 1968, he reacts to this 
quoted passage by saying, “Imagine 
that-we got it right, AS DUMB AS 
WE ABE! What possible purpose can 
be served by this kind of attack?” 

Apprised of Baden’s comment, “[Com- 
mander Humes] had never done one like 
it before,” Humes incredulously ex- 
claims, ‘Who had?” As Baden’s written 
criticisms are read to him, Humes in- 
dignantly explodes, “False.. . false 
. . . false. My God, where does this stti 

come from?” To cite but one example, 
Baden writes, “He [Humes] also knew 
that religious Catholics tend to be op- 
posed to autopsies. And he was not in a 
position to press the issue.” Humes re- 
plies, “Come on, now. I am a devout 
Catholic and for 19 years I was director 
of laboratories at St John Hospital, in 
Detroit, Mich, which is a Catholic hos- 
pital with a very active autopsy service. 
This autopsy was requested by the 
Kennedy family, who are Catholics.” 

JFK the film, termed a ‘hoax’ 

Then, there is the film, JFK. Jack 
Valenti, a former aide to Resident Lyn- 
don Johnson and the current president 
of the Motion Picture Association of 
America, recently described JFK as 
based on the “hallucinatory bleatings of 
au author named*Jim Garrison, a dis- 
credited former district attorney in New 
Orleans.” He also calls it a “hoax,” a 
“smear,” and “pure fiction,” rivaling the 
Nazi propaganda films of Leni Riefen- 
Stahl. - 

Syndicated columnist George Will 
says, “JFK is cartoon kctory by Stone, 
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l who is 45 going on 8. In his three-hour 

lie, Stone falsifies so much he may be an 
intellectual sociopath, indifferent to 
truth.” New York Times columnist An- 
thony Stone says, “Oliver Stone used as 
his mouthpiece, Jim G-on, the former 
New Orleans district attorney, who in 
real life bribed witnesses to prosecute 
an innocent man-and was laughed out 
of court. Stone alleges a conspiracy 
among the &my, the CIA, Lyndon 
Johnson, and countless others-without 
a shred of evidence.” Stone has been 
quoted as saying his critics are moti- 
vated by a “fear of facts.” Chicago 2% 
bune reporter Paul Galloway responds, 
“Nope. They were angry with the way 
he disregarded the facts.” 

Humes does not disagree with these 
criticisms of Stone, which he finds mild. 
His son had recently persuaded him to 
see JF’K, and now he tells his colleague, 
Boswell, u ‘J,’ if you see this movie, be- 
lieve me, you1 need heavy sedation. 
The autopsy scene bears no relation to 
reality, the man they have playing me 
looks older than I am now, and the tri- 
angulated shooting scene is preposter- 
ously impossible.” 

Conspiracy fanciers, including Stone, 
have tried to make much of the fact that 
the privately owned Zapruder film of 
the assassination shows Kennedy’s head 
lurching bu&uXzrd after being hit. 
Humes and Boswell have both seen the 
Zapruder film “30 to 40 times,” and they 
note that studies published two decades 
ago by surgeon John Lattimer demon- 
strated that an object struck in the rear 
by a high-velocity missile similar to the 
bullets that hit Kennedy always falls 
backward as a result of the jet-propul- 
sion effect created by tissues exploding 
out the front. 

JAMA’s Lundberg, a stickler for de- 
tail, poses some questions that remain 
official mysteries: 

Who ordered the autopsy? 
Who ordered the autopsy? 
“It must have been Jackie Kennedy,” 

says Humes. “She made the request 
through Admiral Burkley.” Boswell says, 
“It must have been Robert Kennedy. 
He was acting on behalf of the family.” 
Lundberg counters, ‘Well, we have a lot 
of ‘must haves,’ but no answer.” Humes 
says, ‘Well, George, I hope you’re not 
saying that we shouldn’t have done the 
autopsy! My orders came from Ed Ken- 
ney, the surgeon-general of the Navy. 
The President’s personal physician, Ad- 
miral Burkley, was standing beside me 
at the autopsy table. Jackie Kennedy 
was waiting upstairs for the body with 
Robert Kennedy, and what greater au- 
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thority can you have than the Attorney vides irrefutable evidence that Presi- 
General of the United States [Robert dent Kennedy was killed by only two 
Kennedy)?” Lundberg concludes, “OK, bullets that struck him from above and 
there were verbal OKs all over the behind and that caused fatal high-ve- 
place.” Boswell adds, “Captain Stover locity wounds.” 
[the medical center’s commanding of- Humes concludes, “I reallv have not 
ficerl was very thorough, and I’m sure had much ongoing interest h the au- 
he had someone complete the paper- topsy. We did what we had to do in 1963, 
work.” and we did it right. And, I can’t say that 

Who made the absolute identity? the criticism has hurt my career.” In- 
Humes chuckles, ‘Well, the Presi- deed, Humes retired from the Navy in 

dent’s face was not exactly unknown. 196’7with the rank of captain; worked 19 
bd the body was accompanied by the years at Detroit’s St John Hospital as 
FBI, the Secret Service, military aides, vice president for medical aft&s and 
and Kennedy family members. We saw director of laboratories; and served from 
no need for dental x-rays.” 1986 through 1939 as a field inspector 

What happened to the brain? for the Accreditation Council for Grad- 
Boswell says, “I believe that it was uate Medical Education. In 1936, he was 

buried with the body.” Humes says, “I awarded the Distinguished Service 
don’t know, but I do know that I per- 
sonally handed it over to Admiral 

Award presented jointly by the College 
of Amerian Pathologists and the Amer- 

Burkley and that he told me that the 
familyintendedtoburyitwiththebody. 

ican Society of Clinical Pathologists 
(ASCP). He was president of ASCP &om 

I believe Admiral Burkley.” 
What was the condition of Kennedy’s 

1974 to 19’75; president of the Michigan 
Society of Pathologists in 1974; the first 

adrenal glands? 
Humes says, “I am not prepared to 

president of the American Registry of 
Pathology from 1976 through 1978; and 

answer this question now, except to say a member of the AMA House of Dele- 
that the President was not ‘cushingoid gates from 1978 through 1988. Now 
and did not have the appearance of a semiretired, he is a clinical professor of 
man with the odd fat deposits and facial patholoa at the University of Florida 
pufEiness associated with the cushingoid School of Medicine, Jacksonville, and 
appearance. As his activities indicate, lives in nearby Ponte Vedra, Fla, where 
he was a very healthy and vigorous man. 
At some time in the near future, ‘J’ and 

he has his choice of playing 105 golf 

I will have to sit down and write for 
holes, including the Tournament Play- 
ers Championship course at Sawgrass. 

history our report of the condition of the Boswell retired ftom the Navy in 1965, 
President’s adrenal glands.” with the rank of commander, and worked 

Should the body be exhumed for an- 
other autopsy to remove all doubts? 

in supervisory pathology positions at 
Suburban Hospital, Bethesda, Md, &om 

Humes is appalled. ‘That suggestion 
is ridiculous on the face of it. There is 

1965 through 1972; and with a large pa- 
thology group in Fairfax, Va, from 19’72 

nothing further to be learned.” Boswell to 1983. Now retired, he lives in Be- 
adds, ‘The family would never permit thesda. 
it, anyway.” Humes stops the interview where he 

Boswell concludes, “In hindsight, we 
might have called in a civilian pathologist 

started. ‘The President was killed by a 
devastating gunshot wound to the head 

like Russell Fisher, who was right next 
door in Baltimore. We didn’t need him to 

5red from above and behind by a high- 
velocity ri.tle. The second bullet that 

con&m our findings, but it might have re- struck him in the back of the neck was 
moved the doubts about military con- also 5red from above and behind. That’s 
trol.” Humes says, “Russell was a friend it. Everything else is adventitious.” 
and we easily could have asked him to It is an apt description. The adventi- 
come in to help, but we had no problem in tia, of course, are the external coatings 
determining the cause of death.” of the blood vessels, giving rise to the 

‘Irrefutable evidence’ 
adjective, “adventitious,” for “added 
Tom another source and not inherent or 

Lundberg says, “I am extremely innate . . . arising or occurring sporadi- 
pleased that, finally, we are able to have.7 tally or in other than the usual location.” 
published in the peer-reviewed litera- It is the perfect description for the 
ture the actual Endings of what took growing industry of conspiracy theories 
place at the autopsy table on November from people who are ignorant of the es- 
22, 1963. I completely believe that this sential facts and yet p&port to know 
information, as personally given by Jim how President Kennedy must have been 
[Humes] and ‘J’ [Boswelll, is scientifi- killed, at least in their minds. 0 
tally sound and, in my judgment, pro- 
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JFK’s death, part Il- 
Dallas MDs recall their memories 
0 nly 90 minutes passedin Dallas from 

the time Lee Harvey Oswald 
raised his rifle at 1230 PM until the slain 
body of President John F. Kennedy was 
escorted aboard Air Force One for the 
X00-mile flight to Andrews Air Force 
Base in Maryland and the autopsy at the 
US Naval Medical Center in Bethesda. 
The .medical team at Dallas’ Parkland 
Memorial Hospital spent only 25 fren- 
zied minutes in their futile effort to re- 
suscitate Kennedy, but that whirlwind 
of events and emotions produced indel- 
ible personal memories. 

In truth, though, there were no ex- 
aminations, measurements, or photo- 
graphs performed in Parkland’s Trauma 
Room 1 that in any way, shape, or form 
allowed any of the physicians attending 
the President to make any meaningful 
evaluation of the entry and eldt gunshot 
wounds and the forensic cicumstances 
of death. That assignment was left to 
the autopsy pathologists at the Naval 
Medical Center, and their comments in 
the preceding story stand as the defin- 
itive version that Kennedy was struck 
by only two bullets fmed from behind 
and above ii-am a high-velocity rifle. 

Thisisthe unanimous appraisal of four 
Dallas physicians who have broken their 
29-year silence to speak with this re- 
porterabout their famous 1963 case. Mal- 
colm Perry, MD, a surgeon, worked the 
hardest to try to save the patient and 
performed a tracheostomy in an attempt 
to create an airway for the dying 
Kennedy. Jim Car&o, MD, a first-year 
surgical resident, was the first physi- 
cian to treat Kennedy, at 1235 PM, and 
the first to notice the small bubbling 
wound in the front of the neck that ne- 
cessitated the tracheostomy. M. T. ‘Tep- 
per” Jenkins, MD, the hospital’s long- 
time chief of anesthesiology, rushed to 
the scene to try to help ventilate the 
patient. Charles Baxter, MD, a surgeon, 
assisted in the resuscitation attempt. 
These were the four key players on the 
Parkland medical team of November 22, 
1963. 
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Previously, the four have kept their 
memories private, but they agreed to be 
interviewed by JAMA in the wake of a 
new book written by one of their former 
Parkland Hospital colleagues, Charles 
Crenshaw, MD, that has bolstered con- 
spiraci theorists because of Crenshatis 
incredible 1222 claim that the bullets 
“struck Kennedy from the front” and 
that the autopsy photos must have been 
altered, proving “there was something 
rotten in America in 1963.” Crenshaw 
attributes these statements and others 
to his alleged intense eyewitness obser- 
vations of the dying President. 

Although the other four Parkland phy- 
sicians have some doubt about whether 
Dr Crenshaa wrote most of the sensa- 
tionalistic book or deferred to his two 
coauthors, both of whom are conspiracy 
theorists, and although they are reluc- 
tant to publicly condemn Crenshaw’s 
claims, they emphasize that they be- 
lieve Crenshaw is wrong. 

Since it is hard to prove a negative, no 
one can say with certainty what some 
suspect-that Crenshaw was not even 
in the trauma room; none of the four 
recalls ever seeing him at the scene. 

‘Dreams of notoriety’ 

Dr Perry says, “In 1963, Chuck Cren- 
shaw was a junior resident and he ab- 
solutely did not participate in a mean- 
ingful way in the attempt to resuscitate 
the President and in the medical deci- 
sion making. I do not remember’even 
seeing him in the room.” Dr Jenkins 
says, “He may have been in tLroom, 
but he was not among the inner circle 
attending to the patient.” Dr Carrico 
says, “Charles has extended his conclu- 
sions far beyond his direct examinations. 
Everyone in that room was trying to 
save a life, not figure out forensics.” Bax- 
ter adds, “Jim [Carricol has just made a 
very astute observation.” 

Why, then, would Crenshaw make 
such claims and write a book represent- 
ing himself as being in the forefront of 
the resuscitation effort? 

Baxter says, “Charles and I grew up 
in Paris, Texas, and I’ve lcnown him since 
he was three years old. His claims are 
ridiculous. The only motive I can see is 
a desire for personal recognition and 
monetary gain? 

Thumbing rapidly through Cren- 
shaw’s slender paperback book, Carrico 
stops at page 15 and quotes Crenshaws 
words, u Many of us have dreamed that 
history’s grand scheme will involve us 
in some far-reaching role or experience 
thrusting us into notoriety and dramat- 
ically changing our lives.’ ” Catrico con- 
cludes, ‘There’s your answer, in Char- 
les’s own words. I don’t ha\re those kind 
of dreams.” 

Jenkins says simply, “Crenshaw’s con- 
clusions are dead wrong.” 

Perry concludes, ‘When I first heard 
about Crenshaw’s claims, I was consid- 
ering a lawsuit, but after I saw Charles 
on TV one day all my anger melted. It 
was so pathetic to see him on TV saying 
this bogus stuff to reach out for his day 
in the sun that I ended up feeling sorry 
for him.” He adds, “Crenshaw says that 
the rest of us are part of a conspiracy of 
silence and that he withhheld his infor- 
mation for 29 years because of a fear his 
career would be ruined. Well, if he re- 
ally felt he had valuable information and 
kept it secret for all those years, I tid 
that despicable.” 

Crenshaw’s book insinuates that the 
Bethesda autopsy pathologists altered 
Kennedy’s wounds and it specifically 
charges that ‘the incision Perry had 
made in his [Kennedy’s] throat at Park- 
land for the tracheostomy had been en- 
larged and mangled, as if someone had 
conducted another procedure. It looked 
to be the work o&a butcher. No doubt, 
someone had gone to a great deal of 
trouble to show a different story than 
we had seen at Parkland.” 

Well, the physician who did that work 
at Parkland-Dr Perry-and three phy- 
sicians who observed the tracheos- 
tomy-Drs Baxter, Car&o, and Jen- 
kins-all say that the autopsy photos of 



‘the throat wound are “very compatible” 
. - with what they saw in Parkland Trauma 

_ Room 1. Dr Baxter says, “I was right 
there and the tracheostomy I observed 
and the autopsy photos look the same- 
very compatible.” Dr Carrico says, “I’ve ._ 

ci 

seen the autopsy photos and they are 
very compatible to the actual tracheos- 
tomy.” Dr Jenkins adds, “They’re the 
same.” Dr Perry conciudes, “Of course, 
tissues sag and stretch after death, but 
any suggestion that this wound was in- 
tentionally enlarged is wrong. When I 
talked to Commander Humes the mom- 
ing after the assassination and told him 
we had done a tracheostomy, he said, 
‘That explains it-the bullet exited 
through the throat.’ ” 

Drs Baxter, Carrico, Jenkins, and 
Perry emphasize that their experiences 
in the trauma room do not qualify them 
to reach conclusions about the direction 
from which the fatal missiles were fired. 
In fact, Dr Jenkins doubts if any of the 
Parkland physicians even had a good 
look at the President’s head, explaining, 
“I was standing at the head of the table 
in the position the anesthesiologist most 
often assumes closest to the patient’s 
head. My presence there and the Pres- 
ident’s great shock of hair and the lo- 
cation of the head wound were such that 
it was not visible to those standing down 
each side of the gurney where they were 
carrying out their resuscitative maneu- 
vers.” However, all four agree, in Car- 

r- 

c, 

rico’swords, that.“Nothingweobserved 
contradicts the autopsy tiding that the 
bullets were fired from above and be- 
hind by a high-velocity rifle.” 

As a result of Crenshaws media al- 
legations, the four other Dallas physi- 
cians have been besieged with calls from 
other members of the Parkland medical 
team that was on the scene on Novem- 
ber 22,1963. Baxter says, “I can assure 
you that these calls are uniformly in 
disagreement with Crenshaw’s claims. 
Most of those who know the facts ex- 
press disgust at Crenshaw’s actions and 
question if he was involved in the care 
of the President at all. There has not 
been one call supporting his position.” 

Crenshaw also claims in his book to 
have received a telephone call from Pres- 
ident Lyndon B. Johnson, asking him to 
extract a confession from the dying Lee 
Harvey Oswald. Baxter responds, “Did 
that happen? Heavens no . . , imagine 
that, the President of the United States 
personally calls for Chuck Crenshaw.” 
Another Crenshaw claim is that he was 
the last to view President Kennedy’s 
body as he closed the casket and that it 
was at this point that he observed the 
head wound. Dr Jenkins responds, “It is 
highly unlikely that any physician would 

f ‘\ have closed that casket.” 

Parkland Hasp.#aI physicians who bied unsuccessfully to resuscitate President John F. Kennady in&dad 
(ckxkwise from top left) anesthesWgii1 Pepper Jenkins, surgeon Malcdm Perry. surgical resident Jim 
Carrico. and surgeon Charles Baxter. 

Carrico emphasizes, ‘We were trying 
to save a life, not worrying about entry 
and exit wounds.” Perry says, ‘The Pres- 
ident’s pupils were widely dilated, his 
face was a deep blue, and he was in 
agonal respiration, with his chin jerk- 
ing. Jim [Camico] was having trouble 
inserting the endotracheal tube because 
of the wound to the trachea and I didn’t 
even wipe off the blood before doing the 
‘trach.’ I grabbed a knife and made a- 
quick and large incision; it only took two 
or three minutes.” He adds, “So many 
people have theories about the assassi- 
nation, but I have yet to meet one who 
has read the entire 26 volumes of the 
Warren Commission report.” 

The continuing controversy over the 
assassination and the refusal to believe 

the 26volume, elephantinely docu- 
mented Warren Commission report ob- 
scure the real human tragedy of the 
event. Pepper Jenkins recalls one poi- 
gnant anecdote: 

“The President was a bigger man than 
. I recalled fiorn seeing him on TV. He 

must have had really severe back pain, 
judging by the size of the hack brace we 

Tt off. He was tightly laced into this 
_ brace with wide Ace bandages making 

figure-of-eight loops around his trunk 
and around his thighs:.His feet were 
stirking off one end of tl% gurney and 
his head was at the other end, cradled in 
my arms. I was standing with the front 
of my jacket against his head wound, an 
alignment that put me in the best po- 
sition to carry out artificial ventilation. 

u 
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I was getting gushes of blood down my 
jacket and onto my shoes. 

“Jacqueline Kennedy was circling the 
room, walking behind my back. The Se- 
cret Setice could not keep her out of 
the room. She looked shell-shocked. As 
she circled and circled, I noticed that 
her hands were cupped in front of her, 
as if she were cradling something. As 
she passed by, she nudged me with an 
elbow and handed me what she had been 
nursing in her hands-a large chunk of 
her husband’s brain tissues. I quickly 
handed it to a nurse.” 

‘tt’s too Me, Mac’ 

ItwssDrWiIliamKempClark,aPark- 
land Hospital neurosurgeon, who most % 
closely observed Kennedy’s massive 1 
head wound. He told Dr Perry, “It’s too 2 
late, Mac There’s nothing more to be L 
done.” It was Dr Clark who pronounced d 
the President dead at 1 PM, only 25 min- 
utes after he was wheeled into the emer- 
gency room. 

By this time, the Secret Service had 
allowed a Catholic priest to enter the 
room to administer the last rites. Jen- 
kins recalls, “All of the medical staff 
seemed to disappear, dissolve, fade from 
the room, except, I believe, for me and 
Dr Baxter. I was busy disconnecting 
the electrocardiographic leads, remov- 
ing the IVs, and extracting the endo- 
tracheal tube. However, before I could 
l5n.ish these duties, h5.rs Kennedy re- 
turned to the President’s side and I re- 
treated to a c@@er of the room. She 
kissed the wnt on the foot, on the 
leg, on the thigh, on the abdomen, on the 
chest, and then on the face. She still 
looked drawn, pale, shocked, and remote. 
I doubt if she remembers any part of 
this. Then the priest began the last rites 
in deliberate, resonant, and slow tones, 
and then it was over.” 

Jenkins recalls that Secret Service 
agents then “grabbed the President’s 
gurney on each side and wheeled it out. 
of the room, all but running over Dr 
Earl Rose, the Dallas medical examiner 
[whose office was right across the hall 
from the emergency room].” 

Dr Rose, who is now retired in Iowa 
City, also gave JAMA a rare interview 
to pick up the narrative. “I was in their 
way,” Rose recalls. “I was face to face 
with Secret Service Agent Roy H. Kel- 
lerman, and I was trying to explain to 
him that Texas law applied in the in- 
stant case of the death of the President 
and that the law required an autopsy to 
be performed in Texas. 

“Agent Kellerman had experienced a 
tragedy on his watch and, although he 
had no legal authority, he believed that 
his primary responsibility was to trans- 
port the body back to Washington, DC. 
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tgnoring the autopsy evidence, Dabs surgeon 
RobarthlcUellartdmaintainsaShongopinii%at 
the bullets that sbwk Kennedy came kom the front 
He beses this conclusion on his viewing of he Za- 
pruder film of the assasshtion. 

He was very distressed, apparently tak- 
ing the death as a personal tint, and 
he and I were not communicating. It 
was not a hostile discussion, but he and 
I were expressing differing views on 
what was appropriate.” 

A standoff over removing the body 

Theron Ward, a Dallas Justice of the 
Peace, was at the hospital to assert the 
applicable Texas law, but, in Rose’s 
words, “he did nothing. . . he was frozen 
with fear. In effect, no one was in charge 
of the situation. Agent Kellerman tried 
three tactics to have his way-he as- 
serted his. identity as representing the 
Secret Service; he appealed for sympa- 
thy to lMls Kennedy; and he used body 
language to attempt to bully, or, should 
I say, intimidate. I don’t recall the exact 
words, but he and I exchanged &II and 
emotionally charged words. At no time 
did I feel I was in physical danger be- 
cause he and the others were armed. I 
was not looking at Agent Kellerman’s 
gun, I was looking at his eyes, and they 
were very intense. His eyes said that he 
meant to get the President’s body back 
to Washington.” 

In 1963, Rose was 6-feet, 2-incl&%ll 
and solidly built. He was not the kind to 
backdownfromafightifhebelievedhe 
was right. “I was raised in western South 
Dakota,” he said, “and I carried that 
baggage with me. People raised in west- 
em South Dakc’ta may lose a fight, but 
they don’t get bullied or intimidated.” 
The standoff, however, was soon over. 
Rose says, “Finally, without saying any 
more, I simply stood aside. I felt that it 
was unwise to do anything more to ac- 

celerate or exacerbate the tension. There 
was nothing more I could do to keep the 
body in Dallas. I had no minions, no 
armies to enforce the will of the medical 
examiner.” 

Later that day, Rose autopsied pa- 
trolman J. D. Tippit, who was killed by 
Oswald; two days later, he autopsied 
Oswald himself, who was killed by Jack 
Ruby; a few years later, he autopsied 
Ruby. 

It is 29 years later and Rose, who has 
a law degree as well as a medical de- 
gree, still feels strongly that the 
Kennedy autopsy should have been per- 
formed in Dallas. ‘The law was broken,” 
Rose says, “and it is very disquieting to 
me to saa%ce the law as it exists for 
any individual, including the Resident. 
Having one set of rules for the rich and 
famous and another for the poor is an- 
tithetical to justice. There have been 
many arguments to try to justify the 
removal of the m, but to me they all 
s&m like retrospective and self-serving 
theories. People are governed by rules 
and in a time of crisis it is even more 
important to uphold the rules, as +a 
case amply demonstrates.” 

Rose believes that a Dallas autopsy, 
which he would have performed, “would 
have been tiee of any perceptions of 
outside influences to compromise there- 
suits. tier all, if Oswald had lived, his 
trial would have been held in Texas and 
a Texas autopsy would have assured a 
tight chain of custody on all the evi- 
dence. In Dallas, we had access to the 
President’s clothing and to the medical 
team who had treated him, and these 
are very important considerations.” 

Further, Rose believes that the re- 
moval of the body was the tit step in 
creating disbelief about. what had hap 
pened. “Silence and concealment. are the 
mother’s milk of conspiracy theories,” 
he says. “If we have learned anything in 
the 29 years since the President was 
shot, it is that silence and concealment 
breed theories of conspiracy and the only 
answer is to open up the records, with- 
out self-serving rules of secrecy, and let 
the American people judge for them- 
selves.” 

Rose, who is a board-certified foren- 
sic pathologist and who has personally 
examined Kennedy’s autopsy materials 
and records, next turned his attention 
to the claims made by Dr Crenshaw, 
who is a surgeox “I believe that. Dr 
Crenshaw believes what he is saying 
when he argues that the shotscame from 
the front,” Rose says, “but he is mis- 
taken.” Pressed on his degree of con& 
dence in this statement, Rose finally 
says, “I am absolutely sure that he is in 
error.” 

Rose was a member of the 1977 House 
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&&ctCommitteeon~onsthat 
had,access to the entire autopsy iYe of 
President Kennedy and that supported 
the autopsy conclusions. Though he 
thinks the Bethesda autopsy was “less 
than optimal,” Rose has no argument 
with the centml fact, saying, “I agree 
that the two wounds to the neck and 
head came from behind and above and 
that there is no room for doubt on this 
tiding. The physical evidence corrob- 
orates this without question.” He con- 
cludes, “Do not attribute to conspiracy 
what can be explained by distrust, in- 
experience, or ineptitude.” Offering his 
own appraisal of who killed Kennedy, 
Rose says, “Oswald is the prime suspect 
and there is no credible evidence for any 
other suspect. However, there will al- 
ways be reservations until all the evi- 
dence is disclosed. Only this morning 
the US Justice Department again op 
posed on the grounds of national secu- 
rity a Congressional resolution to open 
the Kennedy files.” 

Mistakes and conspiracies 

One might think that all this demon- 
stration of facts and expression of ex- 
pert medicalopinion would end the con- 
troversy over the Resident’s autopsy, 
but one would probably be wrong. Even 
in that Parkland Hospital trauma room 
there was one other physician who still 
disbelieves the Resident’s autopsy re- 
port. Robert McClelland, MD, is a re- 
spected surgeon who assisted in the last 
steps of the tracheostomy on President 
Kennedy. Interviewed in Dallas, he told 
this reporter that he maintains a “strong 
opinion” that the fatal head wound came 
from the front. Pressed on his reasons, 
he says, “After I saw the Zapruder film 
in 1969, I became convinced that the 
backward lurch of the head had to have 
come from a shot from the front. Unlike 
Crenshaw, I do not believe that one can 
tell the direction from which the bullet 
came simply by looking at the head 
wound, as I did, but the wound I ob- 
served did appear consistent with a shot 
from the front. That observation is sec- 
ondary to my viewing of the Zapruder 
6hn, which convinced me that the shots 
were from the front.” Reminded that at 
least 16 pathologists have also studied 
the Zapruder film and also examined 
the autopsy clothing, notes, photos, and 
x-rays and have concluded the opposite, 
McClelland remains unshaken. “I can’t 
speak for them,” he says, “and although 
I am not an expert in ballistics, pathol- 
ogy, or physics, I still have a strong 
opinion that the head shot came from 
the front.” 

So it goes. McClelland had originally 
mistakenly written in his hospital chart 

Dr Earl Rose: “The law was broken, but I had no minions, no armies to 
enforce the will of the medical examiner and perform the autopsy in Dallas.” 

that the wound to Kennedy’s head struck 
the &? temple. This error, as published 
in the Warren report, later prompted a 
call iiom the office of New Orleans Dis- 
trict Attorney Jim Garrison, who wanted 
to bring him to New Orleans in 1969 to 
testify in the conspiracy trial of Clay 
Shaw. McClelland recalls, ‘Well, when I 
told the investigator that I had made a 
mistake in 1963, there was a sudden 
silence at the other end of the line.” 

Mistakes do happen and contribute to 
conspiracy theories. Similarly, Dr Jen- 
kins wrote in a 1963 report that 
Kennedy’s ‘!cerebelhun” had been blown 
out, when he meant “cerebrum.” Dr 
Perry appeared at a riotous press con- 
ference on the day of the assassination 
and said that the fatal shot “might have 
come” from the front. All have become 
grist for the rumor mill. 

Jenkins was a technical consultant to 
the making of the f&n JFK, advising on 
the layout and equipment of the Parkland 
Hospital trauma room. Assured of direc- 
tor Oliver Stone’s passion for authentic- 
ity, Jenkins was able to help r-e-create the 

1963 room right down to the last detail 
andalsoto re-create the original Park- 
land emergency room entrance, which in 
subsequent decades has been engulfed 
by the complex of new buikhngs con- 
structed at the parent University of 
Texas Southwestern Medical Center, 
Dallas. When Jenkins showed up at the 
set for a day of shooting, he noticed that 
the actors representingthemedicalteam 
were all being issued blood-soaked scrub 
suits. Advising Stone that only he and 
Mrs Kennedy were splattered with 
blood, Jenkins was told by the director, 
“Oh, dot, people expect to see blood!” 
Jenkins notes, “So much for authentic- 
‘it,.” Jenkins himself made a cameo ap 
pearance in the film, but says, “I was so 

bored with the film that I fell asleep and 
---missed my two seconds on camera!” 

People expect to read about conspir- 
acy theories and this probably will not 
change. Ear1 Rose concludes, ‘The de- 
famers of the truth can only be con- 
fronted and defeated by the truth.” 

This special report is our attempt to 
confront the defamers of the truth. 0 
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